22 - CV - 473



IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Received 07/14/2023 10:03 PM Filed 07/14/2023 10:03 PM

MONIQUE WILSON

Appellant,

V.

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA GOVERNMENT, et al.,

Appellees.

ON APPEAL FROM JUDGMENTS OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CASE NO. 2019-CA-000838-B

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

David A. Branch, Esq.
Law Office of David A. Branch & Associates, PLLC
1828 L Street N.W., Suite 820
Washington, D.C. 20036
(202) 785-2805
davidbranch@dbranchlaw.com

PARTIES AND COUNSEL

Appellant Monique Wilson

Monique Wilson 41 New York Ave., N.W. Washington, D.C. 20001

Counsel for Appellant

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from Orders of Judge Alfred S. Irving, Jr. of the Superior Court of the District of Columbia (hereinafter "D.C. Superior Court", "Superior Court", or "Trial Court") in the matter 2019-CA-000838-B. Appellant Monique Wilson (hereinafter "Appellant" or "Ms. Wilson") timely filed a Notice of Appeal on [June 24, 2022]. *See* JA0455. Ms. Wilson appeals the Trial Court's Order Granting Appellees' District of Columbia Government ("D.C." or "the District") and Paul Blake (Mr. Blake) (hereinafter collectively "Appellees") Motion For Summary Judgment, entered May 25, 2022. *See* JA0395.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

1. Whether the Superior Court erred in Granting Appellees' Motion for Summary Judgment, dismissing Appellant's District of Columbia Human Rights Act ("DCHRA") claims for race and sex discrimination and retaliation for opposing aforesaid discrimination; Accrued Sick and Safe Leave Act ("ASSLA") claim for interference and retaliation; and District of Columbia Family Medical Leave Act ("DCFMLA") claim for interference and retaliation.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Monique Wilson, an African American woman, was formerly employed with the District of Columbia Office of Finance and Resource Management (OFRM) as a Budget Analyst. After Appellant was subjected to discriminatory treatment on the basis of her race and sex, endured violations of her right to take leave, and subjected to retaliation for engaging in protected activity, Appellant filed a complaint against the District of Columbia and Paul Blake pursuant to the District of Columbia Human Rights Act ("DCHRA"), D.C. Code § 2-1401 *et seq.*, the District of Columbia Family and Medical Leave Act D.C. Code Ann. § 32-501 *et seq.*, and the District of Columbia Accrued Sick and Safe Leave Act D.C. Code § 32-531.01 *et seq.*

On May 27, 2021, Appellees filed a Motion for Summary Judgment, and after briefing, Judge Alfred S. Irving, Jr. issued an Order granting Appellees' Motion on May 25, 2022. *See* JA0395. As for Appellant's DCHRA claims, the Trial Court concluded Appellant's race and sex discrimination claims fell short due to the non-discriminatory reasons proffered for Appellant's termination; the same for her retaliation claim in addition to finding a lack of protected activity; and her hostile work-environment claim fell short due to a lack of evidence that her race and sex were a motivating factor in her treatment by management. *See* JA0402-JA0409.

The Trial Court additionally concluded that no reasonable jury could find for Appellant on her DCFMLA interference and retaliation claims due to the non-retaliatory reasons proffered for Appellant's termination. *See* JA0409-JA0411. Finally, the Trial Court concluded that Appellant's ASSLA interference claim could not move forward to trial because all requests for leave were approved and the retaliation claim was not viable to due the non-retaliatory reasons proffered for Appellant's termination. *See* JA0411-0412.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant Wilson began her employment as a Budget Analyst within the Office of Finance and Resource Management ("OFRM") February 6, 2017. See JA0301. Appellant initially reported to Jim Hurley when she started her employment in February 2017 until June 2018. During her time reporting to Mr. Hurley, Appellant Wilson was never subjected to any disciplinary action by a manager or supervisor. Id. Without any stated reason, Appellant Wilson was placed under the supervision of Paul Blake in June 2018. Id. Appellant Wilson was immediately informed of Mr. Blake's abusive behavior while supervising and managing employees when she informed several of her colleagues that she was being transferred. See JA0302. Within the first month under Mr. Blake's supervision, Appellant Wilson began having issues with Mr. Blake. *Id.* On July 13, 2018, for example, during the first forty-five (45) days while under Mr. Blake's supervision, Appellant Wilson received criticism of her performance for her lack of knowledge of her work duties verbally from Mr. Blake when she was asked questions regarding AFO PS shortage tasker. *Id*.

Mr. Blake also demeaningly criticized Appellant Wilson when she failed to provide an explanation for a PS shortfall for the Contract Appeal Board. *Id*. Appellant Wilson was provided minimal instruction as to how she should complete the exercise and Mr. Blake did not attempt to assist with ensuring the exercise was

done properly. *Id.* After only three hours of Appellant attempting the exercise, Mr. Blake stated that Appellant was far from completing the assignment, referring to it being problematic and called her prior performance ratings substandard. *Id.* Mr. Blake assumed that since Appellant Wilson had been working for the OFRM for a little over a year that she automatically knew exactly what to do, despite being provided minimal instruction. *Id.* When Appellant explained that she was recently assigned to that particular Agency less than a month prior from originally being assigned limited assignments for City Council and Department of Human Resources (BEO) and wanted help knowing the new agency better, Mr. Blake responded with a look of disgust and his facial expressions caused Appellant to feel unwelcome, along with the lack of proper guidance from someone who should have supervised her on her new tasks. *Id.*

Mr. Blake's tone when communicating with Appellant verbally and through email made her feel extremely uncomfortable and fearful of her work environment. *Id.* Mr. Blake's supervision of Appellant boiled down to Mr. Blake barking orders at her while providing little to no guidance or assistance. *Id.* If Appellant made a minuscule error on tasks, she was subjected to her character being belittled with comments from Mr. Blake like, "you've been with Government Services Cluster (GOC) for over a year and you can't even remember the name or the correct spelling of your assigned agency." *See* JA0303. Mr. Blake would give unrealistic

deadlines three hours before the end of a workday without guidance to Appellant, which caused her anxiety, stress, and made her feel physically ill. Mr. Blake also assumed Appellant knew how to analyze certain assignments with little to no input or instruction from him. *Id.* While Appellant Wilson was being subjected to such cruel treatment, she noted that Mr. Blake did not treat other employees, primarily the non-African American and male employees, with the same harsh treatment she received. *Id.*

Mr. Blake retaliated against Appellant Wilson when she returned to work on October 31, 2018, and submitted a FMLA leave request for November 1, 2018, through November 9, 2018. *Id.* Appellant Wilson was terminated immediately on the very same day without cause. *Id.* Appellant was terminated by Appellee District of Columbia as a result of her using medical leave in order to attend doctor's appointments and being accused by Mr. Blake of abusing her sick leave to attend appointments. *Id.*

Additionally, Appellees violated Appellant's right to access and use her accrued sick leave by questioning her reasons for sick leave and accusing her of abusing the policy. *Id.* When Appellant submitted her request to use her FMLA to Mr. Blake and other individuals on October 31, 2018, Mr. Blake failed to respond to her request and approve the FMLA which is required by law. *Id.* As previously

noted, Appellant was ultimately terminated by Appellees on October 31, 2018, due to Appellees' discriminatory and retaliatory motives.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Trial Court erred when it granted Appellees' Motion for Summary Judgment because material facts were in dispute such that a reasonable jury could find for Appellant on all claims.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

I. Summary Judgment Standards

Superior Court Rule 56(c) provides that summary judgment is appropriate "if particular parts of materials in the record, including depositions, documents, electronically stored information, affidavits or declarations, stipulations (including those made for purposes of the motion only), admissions, interrogatory answers, or other materials" show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. Super. Ct. Civ. R. 56(c). There is a genuine issue as to a material fact "if the evidence is such that a reasonable jury could return a verdict for the nonmoving party." Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, 477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986). If factual issues can "reasonably be resolved in favor of either party," there is a need for a trial. *Id.* At 250. The court, therefore, "should review all of the evidence in the record," Reeves v. Sanderson Plumbing Prods., Inc., 530 U.S. 133, 150 (2000), viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party and according that party the benefit of all reasonable inferences. Anderson, 477 U.S. at 255.

At this stage of the proceedings, the court is not to make credibility determinations or to weigh the evidence. *Reeves*, 530 U.S. at 150. If the evidence presented on a dispositive issue is subject to conflicting interpretations or reasonable persons might differ as to its significance, summary judgment is

improper. *TSC Industries, Inc. v. Northway, Inc.*, 426 U.S. 438, 450 (1976). Only if, after examining the evidence, the court finds that a party has failed "to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to that party's case, and on which that party will bear the burden of proof at trial, "is summary judgment appropriate. *Celotex Corp. v. Catrett*, 477 U.S. 317, 322 (1986). Summary judgment will only be granted in clear cases. This was not a clear case and therefore it was inappropriate for the Trial Court to grant summary judgment.

II. The Trial Court erred in granting summary judgment on Appellant's DCHRA claims

A. A reasonable jury could find that Appellees discriminated against Appellant on the basis of her race and sex

1. Appellant established a prima facie case of discrimination

As a threshold matter, Appellant adequately established a prima facie case of discrimination, although the Trial Court placed the bulk of its reasoning on Appellees' proffered legitimate reasons for terminating Appellant discussed *infra*. An employee makes out a *prima facie* case of disparate treatment discrimination by establishing that: (1) she is a member of a protected class; (2) she suffered an adverse employment action; and (3) the adverse action gives rise to an inference of discrimination. *Czekalski*, *v. Peters*, 475 F. 3d 360 (D.C. Cir. 2007). Appellant has established that she, as a member of protected classes based on her race and sex, suffered adverse employment action by Appellees that gives rise to an inference of

discrimination. No party has ever disputed that Appellant is a member of a protected class. Furthermore, Appellant suffered adverse actions in the form of Mr. Blake's consistent abusive treatment and her termination by the District of Columbia.

As the foregoing paragraphs demonstrate, Appellant suffered adverse employment actions that give rise to an inference of racial and sex discrimination. Mr. Blake's criticism of Appellant went well beyond being critical of her work performance and reveals that Mr. Blake did not respect Appellant on a personal level and was unable to provide assistance on an assignment without belittling Appellant's competency. During her meeting with Ms. Cheatham on July 17, 2018, Appellant indicated that she had to call in sick on July 16, 2018, because she felt "anxious and ill" at the mere thought of coming into the office and interacting with Appellee Blake on that day. *See* JA0209-JA0210. Appellees' adverse actions culminated in Appellant's termination on October 31, 2018, and "neither party contests that [Appellant's] termination was an adverse action" in this matter. *See Armstrong v. Mineta*, Civil Action 04-01661 (HHK) (D.D.C. Jun. 19, 2006).

Standing alone, Appellees' adverse actions toward Appellant might not rise to the requisite level of discrimination. However, when coupled with the disparate treatment Appellant received compared to her co-workers, it is clear that she suffered discrimination based on her race and sex. Regarding comparator

evidence, Appellant can show that she was treated adversely compared to several similarly situated non-African American and non-female employees that worked under Appellee Blake's supervision. Awan Mohammed and Thanh Huynh were similarly situated employees previously under Appellee Blake's supervision prior to being transferred. *See* JA0347-JA3048 (Pl's Answers to Def's First Set of Interrogatories, Answer No. 6). Although, both employees were ultimately reassigned from Appellee Blake's supervision and Mr. Muhammed complained about Blake's management style, neither employee received a written warning or a PIP. *See* JA0041. Appellant, an African American female, was the only employee to receive both a written warning and a PIP while supervised by Appellee Blake.

The Trial Court incorrectly asserted that Mr. Muhammed's complaints about Appellee Blake's management style were essentially no different from Appellant's complaints. *See* JA0405. No evidence was placed in the record that either Mr. Muhammed or Mr. Huynh were subjected to the constant verbal abuse that Appellant suffered. Furthermore, Mr. Blake gave Appellant unrealistic deadlines three hours before the end of Appellant's workday without any management or guidance, a complaint neither Mr. Muhammed nor Mr. Huynh made. *See* JA0350-JA0351 (Pl's Answers to Def's First Set of Interrogatories, Answer No. 12).

Appellant, as an African American female was uniquely singled-out by Appellee Blake and was treated adversely compared to Appellant's identified non-African American non-female coworkers: Mr. Muhammed and Mr. Huynh. Appellees' adverse actions, including Appellant's termination, illustrate the disparate treatment taken against Appellant compared to her non-African American and non-female co-workers, including the termination of her employment. Because "a reasonable jury could find that these facts give rise to an inference of discrimination" on behalf of Appellees, Appellant has established *prima facie* cases of discrimination based on her race and sex. *Brownfield v. Bair*, 541 F. Supp. 2d 35 at 43 (D.D.C. 2008).

2. A reasonable jury could conclude that Appellee's justifications for Appellant's termination are mere pretext

The central issue regarding a motion for summary judgment in an employment discrimination case is whether the employee has produced sufficient evidence for a reasonable jury to find that the employer's alleged non-discriminatory reason was not the actual reason for the adverse action and that the employer intentionally discriminated against the employee on the basis of her protected class. *Brady v. Office of Sergeant at Arms*, 520 F.3d 490, 494 (D.C. Cir. 2008) (citations omitted). The Trial Court focused on this central question but erred in answering it.

Under the *McDonnell Douglas* framework, once the employer articulates an alleged legitimate non-discriminatory reason for its action, the Appellant is given an opportunity to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that Appellee's proffered reasons are merely a pretext for discrimination. *Burdine*, 450 U.S. 248 at 256. The Appellant "may succeed in this either directly by persuading the court that a discriminatory reason more likely motivated the employer or indirectly by showing that the employer's proffered explanation is unworthy of credence." *Id.* Evidence that an employer's asserted justification is false may permit the trier of fact to conclude that the employer unlawfully discriminated against the employee. *Reeves v. Sanderson Plumbing Products*, Inc., 530 U.S. 133 (2000).

In this matter, Appellees' alleged reasons for terminating Appellant are unworthy of credence as they were motivated by a discriminatory reason. Appellees assert that there were concerns regarding Appellant's ability to operate as Budget Analyst. *See* JA0053. It turns out, however, that Appellant met with Mr. Hurley three months prior to her first performance evaluation in October 2017. *See* JA0347 (Pl's Ex. 1, Pl's Answers to Def's First Set of Interrogatories, Answer No. 4). During this time, Appellant was not subjected to or recommended for any type of discipline, including but not limited to, being placed on a PIP, being suspended, leave without pay, disciplinary action or reprimand. *Id.* Throughout this discussion Appellant and Mr. Hurley emphasized the important of providing accuracy when

submitting reports and focusing on providing detailed work, however at no time was Appellant informed by Mr. Hurley that her work was unsatisfactory or that she would be receiving an unacceptable rating for her performance evaluation. *Id*.

Contrary to the Trial Court's findings, a reasonable jury could find that Appellant was significantly qualified for her position as a Budget Analyst in OFRM. Under *Hunt v. Dist. of Columbia*, the essential consideration is whether an employee "raised triable issues of fact necessary to answering th[e] question" of whether she could perform the essential function of her position. 66 A.3d 987 (D.C. 2013). Here, Appellant undoubtedly raised triable issues of fact establishing that she could perform the essential function of a budget analyst. Appellant's past experience as a Budged Analyst with the District of Columbia government illustrated Appellant's ability to perform her duties as a Budget Analyst. See Nadaf-Rahrov v. Neiman Marcus Group, Inc., 166 Cal. App. 4th 952, 83 Cal. Rptr. 3d 190 (Cal. Ct. App. 2008) (noting that employee raised a triable issue of fact regarding her qualification for certain positions, including her past experience). Furthermore, as the foregoing paragraphs demonstrate the question of whether Appellant could perform her essential duties only began after Appellant's reassignment under Appellee Blake.

Appellant performed her duties in a satisfactory manner, and no significant issues with her performance occurred until she began reporting to Appellee Blake

in June 2018. Appellant performed these tasks despite not being given complete access to financial systems which would have allowed her to work independently with specific District agencies on budget related matters for the first six months after she was hired by Appellee District of Columbia. The Trial Court pointed to Appellant's two "Needs Improvement" ratings from her October 2017 and May 2018 performance evaluations. See JA0396. However, neither of these ratings led to any disciplinary action or reprimand on behalf of Appellee District of Columbia. Only after being assigned under the supervision of Appellee Blake's did Appellant receive a Written Warning and PIP on October 10, 2018. As a result, a jury could reasonably find that Appellees implausibly hold that Appellant's alleged work performance issues only qualified for disciplinary action after Appellee Blake was assigned as her supervisor. If, as Appellees claim, Appellant had such work performance problems prior to the assignment of Appellee Blake as her supervisor, the District of Columbia would surely have implemented disciplinary measures sooner. Furthermore, Appellant was terminated during her assigned PIP, demonstrating that its implementation was not for the benefit of assisting Appellant's work performance as she was denied the opportunity to successfully complete the PIP.

Because a reasonable factfinder could find Appellees' alleged non-discriminatory reasons for termination implausible and unworthy of credence, summary judgment was inappropriate. *See Waldron v. SL Indus., Inc.,* 56 F.3d 491 (3d Cir. 1995) (finding that employee's claims should have survived summary judgment as a jury could reasonably determine that the justifications for termination were implausible).

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