### No. 22-CV-473

### IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEAL Received 11/13/2023 01:50 PM

# MONIQUE WILSON, APPELLANT,

V.

# DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, et al., APPELLEES.

## ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

### BRIEF FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA AND PAUL BLAKE

BRIAN L. SCHWALB Attorney General for the District of Columbia

CAROLINE S. VAN ZILE Solicitor General

ASHWIN P. PHATAK Principal Deputy Solicitor General

GRAHAM E. PHILLIPS Deputy Solicitor General

\*HOLLY M. JOHNSON Senior Assistant Attorney General Office of the Solicitor General

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. Wilson cannot prevail on her DCHRA discrimination claim because she concedes that Rice terminated her for poor performance. And even if she had not made that fatal concession, she offers no evidence—not even her own testimony—that she was successfully performing the basic functions of her job. After more than a year of on-the-job training, she was still assigned to work with only one, uncomplicated agency—far less than what was expected of a grade 12 budget analyst. And even with that minimal workload, she repeatedly missed deadlines, made substantive errors, and gave incorrect information to her client agency. Wilson thus cannot refute Rice's legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for terminating her.

Wilson attempts to prove discrimination through Rice's decision *not* to terminate male, non-African-American budget analysts. But Wilson offers no evidence that they had similar performance problems, so Rice's decision to retain them cannot cast doubt on her nondiscriminatory reason for terminating Wilson.

2. Wilson has not shown that Blake created a hostile work environment. Nothing in the record suggests that his legitimate criticism of her job performance was the type of severe or pervasive harassment prohibited by the DCHRA.

Alternatively, Wilson has offered no evidence that Blake's alleged hostility was discriminatory. On the contrary, she testified that Blake was abrupt with and overly critical of *all* her proffered comparators, regardless of their race or sex.

3. Wilson cannot establish DCHRA retaliation because she did not engage in any DCHRA-protected activity. The complaints cited in her brief are unprotected because they did not allege a DCHRA violation. And while she did complain about gender discrimination to Bolden soon after her first encounter with Blake, she offers no evidence of what Blake said or did in that encounter, so she has not shown that she *reasonably* believed she was reporting a DCHRA violation.

Alternatively, Wilson has not shown any causal link between that complaint and Rice's termination decision. She offers no evidence that Bolden told anyone about the complaint. And even if Rice somehow knew, the record demonstrates—and Wilson concedes—that Rice terminated Wilson for poor performance.

4. Wilson has likewise failed to show that her termination violated the DCFMLA. The statute does not require employers to discontinue an unrelated termination to accommodate the employee's request for medical leave. And Rice's decision to terminate Wilson could not have been retaliatory because Rice could not

have known that Wilson would apply for DCFMLA leave mere hours before being notified of her termination.

Alternatively, as discussed, any inference of retaliation is rebutted by the overwhelming evidence that Rice terminated her for poor performance.

5. So too under ASSLA. Wilson was never denied her statutory right to use accrued sick leave. And she cannot show retaliation for using that leave because, again, she has conceded that Rice terminated her for poor performance and does not challenge the evidence corroborating that legitimate, nonretaliatory reason.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. Wilson Cannot Establish That Her Termination Was Discriminatory Because She Does Not Dispute The Evidence Of Her Poor Performance Or Demonstrate That It Was A Pretext For Discrimination.

The DCHRA prohibits employers from discriminating based on an employee's protected traits, including race and sex. D.C. Code § 2-1402.11(a)(1). In considering such claims, this Court employs the same three-part, burden-shifting test articulated by the Supreme Court for Title VII cases in *McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green*, 411 U.S. 792 (1973).<sup>4</sup> *Cain v. Reinoso*, 43 A.3d 302, 306 (D.C. 2012). Once the employee raises an inference of discrimination, the burden shifts

In interpreting the DCHRA, this Court "customarily look[s] to federal anti-discrimination jurisprudence," *Kumar v. D.C. Water & Sewer Auth.*, 25 A.3d 9, 16-17 (D.C. 2011), "and ha[s] adopted those precedents when appropriate," *D.C. Dep't of Pub. Works v. D.C. Office of Human Rights*, 195 A.3d 483, 491 n.9 (D.C. 2018) (quoting *Nicola v. Washington Times Corp.*, 947 A.2d 1164, 1171 (D.C. 2008)).

to the employer to articulate a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for its action.

Id. If it does, the burden shifts back to the employee to show that this stated reason was pretextual—"a disguise for discrimination." Id. at 307.

Strict adherence to this scheme is unnecessary. *Id.* at 307 n.13. Once the employer articulates its legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason, the Court "may proceed to answer the ultimate question—whether [the plaintiff] presented sufficient evidence for a jury to find that . . . discrimination 'actually motivated the employer's decision." *Id.* (quoting *Furline v. Morrison*, 953 A.2d 344, 353 (D.C. 2008)). To meet this burden, the employee can offer evidence "that the employer's explanation is unworthy of credence because it has no basis in fact" or that "the retaliatory animus more likely motivated [her] employer." *Rooney v. Rock-Tenn Converting Co.*, 878 F.3d 1111, 1117 (8th Cir. 2018).

Wilson has done neither. She concedes that Rice—the person who decided to terminate her—honestly believed that she should be terminated for poor performance. She does not dispute the overwhelming evidence that she could not perform the basic functions of her job despite more than a year of on-the-job training. And she offers nothing but speculation that Rice was instead motivated by race or sex.

# A. Wilson concedes that Rice honestly believed she should be terminated due to poor performance and the undisputed evidence supports that concession.

An employee can show pretext with evidence that the decisionmaker did not "honestly believe[]" the nondiscriminatory reason she proffers. *Woodruff v. Peters*, 482 F.3d 521, 531 (D.C. Cir. 2007). Wilson, however, admits that Rice was the decisionmaker, JA 78, 338 ("undisputed"), and that "Rice believed that based on [Wilson's] history of poor performance [Wilson] should be terminated," JA 77, 338 ("undisputed"). She also admits that "Rice was concerned about the fact that [Wilson] was not carrying a substantial caseload... commensurate with her position," and that "Rice's opinion was that [Wilson] never performed at a Grade-12 level." JA 78, 339 ("undisputed"). These concessions are fatal to her claim. *See Gilbert v. Napolitano*, 670 F.3d 258, 264 (D.C. Cir. 2012) (affirming summary judgment because plaintiff conceded that the decisionmaker "honestly' believe[d]" that the plaintiff had engaged in misconduct).

Alternatively, Wilson makes no effort to refute the overwhelming evidence of her poor performance. She did not disagree with the "Needs Improvement" performance ratings issued by Hurley. JA 122. She admitted that, after more than a year of one-on-one training, JA 122, she only improved in "some instances," JA 125; *see* JA 70, 332 ("undisputed"). And she does not dispute the evidence of her inadequate performance under Blake, including:

- Blake's testimony that she repeatedly failed to send CAB its budget report by the 10th of each month despite numerous reminders. JA 194-95.
- Blake's testimony that she wrongly told CAB that it would have to reprogram money to cover a deficit even though there was no deficit. JA 195.
- Documents showing her failure to timely fund CAB's purchase card despite CAB's warning of the deadline. JA 193-94, 213-14.
- Blake's testimony that she needlessly emailed CAB's Chief Judge for information that he had provided in a meeting only hours earlier. JA 199.
- Blake's testimony that she never put absences on the team calendar. JA 199.
- Emails showing her failure to give Blake reasons for unscheduled absences and, on one occasion, to even tell him she would be absent. JA 198, 227, 284.

Wilson argues that Rice's justification is "unworthy of credence" because Hurley did not discipline her for similar performance problems. Br. 15-16. But that is the nature of "progressive discipline." JA 180. Hurley tried to help her improve; he placed her on an Individual Development Plan and Individual Performance Plan. JA 148-49. Rice requested Wilson's termination because those efforts had failed. *See* JA 170 (Rice: "[T]here was an annual review, a midyear review, and then there were the accounts of the current performance issues.").

It is simply not true that "the question of whether [Wilson] could perform her essential duties only began *after* [her] assignment under Appellee Blake." Br. 16.

Hurley could not trust her to handle a single agency, which is the essential duty of a budget analyst. *See* JA 113. And Hurley told her that her work was unsatisfactory by giving her a "Needs Improvement" rating and placing her on an Individual Development Plan and Individual Performance Plan. Br. 16; JA 139-56.

Wilson has never claimed that she was performing her job at a level commensurate with her position and grade. She faults management for failing to train her, but she did not improve after more than a year of one-on-one training. She has simply offered no evidence—not even her own testimony—that could cast doubt on Rice's honest belief that she should be terminated for poor performance.

#### B. Wilson offers no evidence suggesting that Rice based her decision on Wilson's race or sex.

Pretext can also be inferred if the employee was treated less favorably than similarly situated employees who do not share her protected traits. "To show that employees are similarly situated, the plaintiff must demonstrate that all of the relevant aspects of their employment situations are nearly identical." *Little v. D.C. Water & Sewer Auth.*, 91 A.3d 1020, 1028 (D.C. 2014) (quoting *McFarland v. George Wash. Univ.*, 935 A.2d 337, 353 (D.C. 2007)). This "eliminate[s] other possible explanatory variables, such as . . . performance histories . . . which helps isolate the critical independent variable—discriminatory animus." *Good v. Univ. of Chi. Med. Ctr.*, 673 F.3d 670, 675-76 (7th Cir. 2012) (internal quotation marks omitted).

Wilson identifies two male budget analysts who were not terminated: Mohammed and Huynh.<sup>5</sup> But she has not shown that they, like her, performed poorly. *See Rooney*, 878 F.3d at 1119 (rejecting comparator because, "without a record of [his] performance . . . , there is no basis to conclude that he was 'similarly situated'" to plaintiff); *Amrhein v. Health Care Serv. Corp.*, 546 F.3d 854, 860 (7th Cir. 2008) (rejecting comparators due to "the disparity in their disciplinary history"). Because Wilson offers no evidence about these comparators' performance, she fails to even raise an inference of discrimination. *Cf. Johnson*, 225 A.3d at 1283 n.14 (rejecting retaliation inference because plaintiff "ha[d] not developed a record . . . to show why" any other employee "should be considered a relevant comparator").

Nor does the record support Wilson's other pretext arguments. She claims that Blake's "consistent abusive treatment" raises an inference of discrimination. Br. 12. But it was Rice, not Blake, who requested her termination, JA 77, 338 ("undisputed"); see JA 79 ("Blake . . . was not notified of the termination before it occurred."), 339 ("undisputed"), and Wilson does not argue that Blake gave Rice inaccurate information about her performance, see, e.g., Furline, 953 A.2d at 357

Wilson repeatedly asserts that Mohammed and Huynh are not African-American. Br. 7, 13, 14, 22, 23. But she does not identify the race of either man, despite this being her burden. *See Johnson v. District of Columbia*, 225 A.3d 1269, 1283 n.14 (D.C. 2020). And the record shows that these employees *are* African-American, making them inapt comparators for race discrimination. JA 110.

(recognizing "subordinate bias" discrimination). She does not explain how Blake's decision to place her on a PIP affects the genuineness of Rice's belief that termination was more appropriate. *See* Br. 17, 19. And she offers no evidence that OFRM violated any regulations or procedures by failing to issue a performance evaluation before her October termination. *See* Br. 18; JA 170 (Rice's testimony that performance evaluations "wouldn't have been due until that December").

## II. Wilson Has Not Shown That Blake Created A Hostile Work Environment Or, Alternatively, That It Was Based On Race Or Gender.

#### A. Blake's legitimate criticism of Wilson's performance did not create a hostile work environment.

To be actionable, a hostile work environment must be "permeated with discriminatory intimidation, ridicule, and insult that is sufficiently severe or pervasive to alter the conditions of the victim's employment and create an abusive working environment." *Barrett v. Covington & Burling LLP*, 979 A.2d 1239, 1246 (D.C. 2009) (quoting *Daka, Inc. v. Breiner*, 711 A.2d 86, 93 (D.C. 1998)). The harassment must consist of "[m]ore than a few isolated incidents[,] . . . and genuinely trivial occurrences will not establish a prima facie case." *Daka, Inc.*, 711 A.2d at 93 (quoting *Howard Univ. v. Best*, 484 A.2d 958, 980 (D.C. 1984)).

Wilson cannot satisfy this strict standard. Even making all reasonable inferences in her favor, she identifies only five negative incidents over a four-month period, each of which involved Blake's well-justified criticism of her performance.

First, on July 12, 2018, Blake asked Wilson to research CAB's personnel-services deficit and give him "an update of [her] progress by COB." JA 204. "After three hours," he told her that she was "far from completing this deliverable and that it was problematic and that [her] prior performance ratings were substandard." JA 349-50. He said, "you've been with OFRM for a little over a year and a half and you could not complete this deliverable." JA 350. When she told him she needed more time, he gave her "a look of disgust." JA 350.

Second, almost three months later, on October 2, Blake refuted Wilson's excuse for failing to fund CAB's purchase card by forwarding CAB's email that had notified her of the deadline and writing that "attending training classes does not preclude you from your normal responsibilities and deadlines." JA 212-13.

Third, on October 10, Blake issued a written warning describing her failure to meet deadlines and noting that she had "taken days to produce reports which should have taken hours" and "generally showed a lack of productivity." JA 215-16. He also wrote that she lacked "knowledge and procedural understanding" of "basic financial terms" and had "submitted incomplete and/or inaccurate works, reports from the wrong month, and memos incorrectly identifying the agency." JA 216.

Fourth, on October 22, Blake sent her an email explaining that she should not have asked CAB for the same information it had just provided in a face-to-face

meeting because her request was "at minimum redundant and could be interpreted as showing inattentiveness and/or a lack of understanding" of the process. JA 223.

Fifth, on some unspecified date, Blake said "you've been with Government Services Cluster . . . for over a year and you can't even remember the name or the correct spelling of your assigned agency." JA 351.

No reasonable jury could find that these five incidents created a hostile work environment. "Evaluation and criticism of one's work performance, while perhaps unpleasant, is not abusive." Holloway v. Maryland, 32 F.4th 293, 301 (4th Cir. 2022); see Credeur v. Louisiana, 860 F.3d 785, 796 (5th Cir. 2017) (finding it "significant that none of the [employer's] actions were 'physically threatening or humiliating' or even offensive"); Hill v. Nicholson, 383 F. App'x 503, 511 (6th Cir. 2010) (finding no harassment where "most of [the supervisor's] actions involved mere work-related criticisms and heightened performance expectations"). Indeed, courts have rejected claims based on much harsher criticism. See, e.g., Buchhagen v. ICF Int'l, Inc., 545 F. App'x 217, 219 (4th Cir. 2013) (finding no harassment even though plaintiff's supervisor "mockingly" yelled at her in one meeting, yelled and pounded a desk in another meeting, "repeatedly harp[ed]" on a single mistake, made "snide comments," and unfairly scrutinized her use of leave); Fleming v. MaxMara USA, Inc., 371 F. App'x 115, 119 (2d Cir. 2010) (describing supervisors' conduct as "generally quite minor" even though they "wrongly excluded [plaintiff] from

meetings, excessively criticized her work, refused to answer work-related questions, arbitrarily imposed duties outside of her responsibilities, threw books, and sent rude emails to her"). Blake's criticisms of Wilson's performance may have been blunt, but he did not use the type of threatening, humiliating, or offensive language that could create an objectively hostile work environment.

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